



Society Constitution

June 2019

Third edition published: June 2019

CONSTITUTION

St. Albans & District Model Engineering Society

Title:

The Society shall be known as the “St. Albans & District Model Engineering Society”

Objectives:

The society shall exist to promote and further the advancement of all branches of model engineering and craftsmanship. To provide a forum for all individuals interested in the design, construction, operation and testing of engines, models, tools and other related artefacts.

Membership:

- (1) Full membership shall normally be available to all persons aged 18 and over on payment of an annual subscription.
- (2) Junior membership shall normally be available to all persons under the age of eighteen on payment of an annual subscription. Members in this category are required to operate their models or related equipment under the supervision of a parent, guardian or responsible member of the society.
- (3) Associate membership is open to the spouse or partner of full members on payment of an annual subscription.

N.B. Only one copy of the Gazette will normally be sent to a household.

- (4) Honorary membership of the Society may be conferred on any individual at the discretion of the committee in recognition of outstanding service to the society. Honorary membership may be offered to individuals who are not existing members of the society if in the judgement of the committee that individual has provided significant support or service to the society. Honorary members are not required to pay an annual subscription.

Voting rights:

Only full members of the society who have paid the annual subscription are able to vote. Any Honorary member who chooses to pay a full annual subscription is also entitled to vote. All votes are based upon a simple majority with the Chairman having a casting vote in cases of a tied vote.

Subscriptions:

- (1) The subscription rate for each class of membership shall be fixed at the extraordinary general meeting held immediately preceding the November

general meeting. Senior citizens are full members but may pay a reduced subscription. Subscriptions shall then become due in the January of the following year.

- (2) In the event of a person being in arrears for a period of three months that person shall be precluded from attending or taking part in any meeting or function of the society. They will then be regarded as having ceased to be a member of the society.
- (5) In the event of any member suffering financial hardship and being unable to pay their subscription they may privately, and in confidence, inform the Honorary Treasurer of their situation. The Honorary Treasurer may agree to the subscription being paid in instalments or waived.

Officers:

The society shall elect the following officers;

- (a) Chairman, (b) Honorary Secretary, (c) Honorary Treasurer

Executive:

- (1) The government of the society shall be vested in an Executive Committee consisting of the officers of the society and five members representative of the various interests in the society. Officers and Committee members shall be elected at the Annual General meeting to serve for a period of two years. Normally the terms of office of half the committee will expire each year. Any committee member can stand for re-election providing they are correctly nominated and seconded.
- (2) A quorum for committee meetings shall be five members to include two officers.
- (3) The executive committee may co-opt any member to serve on the committee either to fill a vacancy or because they have special skills or knowledge which will assist in the work of the committee. Co-opted members have no voting rights at committee meetings and serve for a maximum of a year at a time.
- (4) There shall be two auditors appointed by the Annual general meeting who shall not be members of the Executive Committee.

Duties of the Executive Committee:

- (1) To conduct the affairs of the Society.
- (2) To control the finances of the society and to ensure that adequate insurance cover is in place at all times.

(3) To appoint such sub committees as may be considered necessary.

Note: Sub committees shall normally be chaired by an executive committee member but can include ordinary members of the society. Sub committees are advisory to the executive committee and cannot make decisions in their own right. Sub committees will exist only for the duration of the task they have had delegated to them by the executive committee.

- (4) To prepare a report on the years activities for submission to the annual general meeting.
- (5) To further the interests of the society as a whole.
- (6) To uphold the rules and constitution of the society.
- (7) To keep under review the objectives and constitution of the society and when necessary make proposals for change at either the Annual General Meeting, or an Extraordinary General Meeting.
- (8) To ensure that the Society has an effective policy and codes of practice to ensure a safe environment for children and vulnerable adults, as required by the relevant child protection legislation.

The executive committee may;

- (9) Appoint a membership secretary.
- (10) Appoint an editor for the gazette.
- (11) Appoint an exhibition manager.

Society Assets:

These shall be bought, used and disposed of at the direction and discretion of the executive committee.

Annual General Meeting:

The annual general meeting of the society shall be held during the month of April in each year for the following purposes:

- (1) To receive the audited accounts of the society.
- (2) To receive the executives committee's report on the preceding year.
- (3) To elect, from nominations received by the general meeting prior to the

annual general meeting, the following:

- (3.1) Officers of the society
- (3.2) Members of the executive committee
- (4) To conduct any business brought before it.

Note 1, Nominations must be in writing, proposed, seconded and signed by the person being nominated. To be submitted to the Honorary Secretary no later than the end of the March meeting preceding the annual general meeting.

Note 2, There will be a paper ballot, conducted by two full members who are not themselves standing for election.

Extraordinary General Meeting

An extraordinary meeting of the society may be summoned by the Honorary Secretary at the request of the executive committee or not less than twelve full members of the society. At least fourteen days notice must be given by the secretary. The business of the meeting shall only be that stated on the notice convening the meeting.

Quorum for annual and extraordinary general meetings.

- (1) A vote can only be taken at these meetings if there are twenty five percent of full members present.
- (2) Any change to the constitution must be passed by a two thirds majority of those voting.

Trophies:

The society has a number of trophies which will be awarded annually according to the rules and conditions which are printed separately.

Annex (A)

Policy Statement on Child Projection:

(Based upon the guidance issued by the Southern Federation of Model Engineering Societies and the Model Power Boat Association). This policy and code of practice will be kept under periodic review.

1. The child's welfare is paramount,
2. All children whatever their age, culture, disability, gender, racial origin, religious belief and/or sexual identity, have the right to protection from abuse.
3. All suspicions and allegations of inappropriate behaviour will be taken seriously and responded to swiftly and appropriately.
4. As defined by the Children Act 1989, anyone under the age of 18 years should be considered as a child for the purposes of this document.

Guidance on caring for junior society members:

- 5 Junior members must be supervised at all times by a responsible adult. The level of supervision is to be commensurate with the junior's age maturity, capabilities and levels of experience.
- 6 No senior member is expected to assume responsibility for junior members unless they have been specifically requested to do so by the junior member's parent / guardian. If requested to do so, they are to assume complete responsibility for the junior member whilst they are in their charge.
- 7 Should a member discover a junior member is unsupervised they must assume responsibility for the junior member's safety in the first instance. The situation should then be rectified as soon as possible by seeking out the junior member's parent / guardian or nominated supervisor. Any instances of such an occurrence should be reported to the society secretary or designated official as soon as possible.
- 8 A junior member is usually defined as being under 18 years of age but particular care must be taken with the supervision of those juniors under the age of 14 years. A responsible adult is defined as a senior member or parent / guardian who has the experience commensurate with the type and degree of supervision required.
- 9 Whilst supervising junior members, senior members should be aware of the requirements of "The Children act (1989), and avoid placing themselves in a position that could be open to misinterpretation or question.

Code of Practice:

The following shall apply at the track, lakeside or any other venue where members are representing the Society:

- (a) Do not be alone with children away from others.
- (b) Do not photograph or video children, or publish pictures, without the knowledge and consent of their parents.
- (c) Do not publish information, in print or on a website that may enable someone to contact the child.
- (d) Except in emergencies or to prevent danger, avoid physical contact with children.
- (e) Parents or guardians should be asked to lift children on and off rides, and where possible accompany them on the ride.
- (f) When children are being carried at least two society members must be present in the station area in order to assist, if necessary, in the loading and unloading of children if their parent or guardian is not able to.
- (g) Society members operating the track must be familiar with this code of practice.
- (h) Clear and concise instructions should be announced before the commencement of each ride.
- (i) If a child puts itself in danger by, for example, attempting to touch equipment, being in a hazardous position adjacent to miniature railways or road locomotives or running alongside them or adjacent to model boats, their parents must be advised. The potential dangers should be pointed out and the parent or guardian asked to supervise the child appropriately.
- (j) If children enter an operating area they should be instructed to leave and their parent or guardian advised of the reason for the instruction.
- (k) In the event of distress or injury the parent or guardian must take the initiative to console and administer initial treatment.
- (l) Nothing above should preclude a member from taking timely action to prevent an accident or injury or to act to treat life threatening injury.
- (m) Never let allegations a child makes go unchallenged or unrecorded, if an allegation is made against a member of the society this must be reported immediately to the secretary, or appointed officer of the committee.